
AGENDA 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION  

VIA TELECONFERENCE 
Monday, December 21, 2020 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 1 of 1 
 

 

Link to access meeting via teleconference or by phone from your computer, tablet or smartphone: 
https://www.gotomeet.me/CityofDawsonville/city-council-regular-meeting-and-work-session-8 
 

You can also dial in using your phone. 
United States: +1 (571) 317-3112 
 

Access Code: 870-357-789 
 
 

1. Call to Order   
2. Roll Call  
3. Invocation and Pledge  
4. Announcements  
5. Approval of the Agenda  
6. Public Input  
7. Consent Agenda  

a. Approve Minutes  
• Special Called Meeting held December 2, 2020 
• Regular Meeting held December 7, 2020 
• Executive Session held December 7, 2020 

 

BUSINESS  
 

8. Approve Contract and Budget Amendment for Laserfiche Software 
9. 2021 Mayor Pro Tempore Appointment 

10. Recommendation for 2021 Leases 
11. Oakdale Subdivision Final Plat Approval        

      WORK SESSION 
 

      STAFF REPORTS 
 

12. Bob Bolz, City Manager 
            

          EXECUTIVE SESSION IF NEEDED:  Pending or Potential Litigation, Real Estate Acquisition and/or 
Personnel 

 

          ADJOURNMENT   
 
 

The next scheduled City Council meeting is January 4, 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Those persons with disabilities who require reasonable accommodations in order to allow them to observe 
and/or participate in this meeting or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting, should 
contact the Clerk at Dawsonville City Hall at 706-265-3256 at least two (2) business days prior to the meeting.
  

https://www.gotomeet.me/CityofDawsonville/city-council-regular-meeting-and-work-session-8
tel:+15713173112,,870357789


                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                    CONSENT AGENDA           

   
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  12/21/2020     
   
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 

 
   CONSIDERATION AND APPROVAL OF ITEMS BELOW; SEE ATTACHED 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS  
 

a. Approve Minutes  
• Special Called Meeting held December 2, 2020 
• Regular Meeting held December 7, 2020 
• Executive Session held December 7, 2020 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #    7     
 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                       APPROVE MINUTES    

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  12/21/2020      
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #  NA      

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
     TO APPROVE THE MINUTES FROM: 
 

• SPECIAL CALLED MEETING HELD DECEMBER 2, 2020 
• REGULAR MEETING HELD DECEMBER 7, 2020 
• EXECUTIVE SESSION HELD DECEMBER 7, 2020 

 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

 
 
     
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
           
  AMEND OR APPROVE AS PRESENTED 
 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
     REQUESTED BY:  Beverly Banister, City Clerk    

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

 AGENDA ITEM #   7a      
 

 

 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL CALLED MEETING 

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers, City Hall 2nd Floor 
Wednesday, December 2, 2020 

 5:30 P.M. 

 

Page 1 of 2 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Mike Eason called the meeting to order at 5:30 pm.   

2. ROLL CALL: Present were Councilmember John Walden, Councilmember Mark French, 
Councilmember Caleb Phillips, Councilmember Stephen Tolson, City Attorney Kevin Tallant, City 
Manager Bob Bolz and City Clerk Beverly Banister.   
 

3. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE:  Invocation and Pledge were led by Councilmember French. 
 

4. ANNOUNCEMENTS:  Mayor Eason announced the purpose for the meeting was to discuss 
SPLOST VII.  He also reminded citizens of the Christmas Tree Lighting and Parade this Friday, 
December 4, 2020.  Lastly, he announced there is a charity fundraiser for a Chase Elliott display 
at the museum, the Georgia Racing Hall of Fame website has the details.  
 

5. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA:  Motion to approve the agenda as presented made by M. French; 
second by J. Walden.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  
 

6. PUBLIC INPUT:  No comments from the public.   

BUSINESS 
 

7. SPLOST VII UPDATE AND DISCUSSION:  Mayor Eason spoke about the history of the Special 
Purpose Local Option Sales Tax (SPLOST), this being the continuation of six prior SPLOST 
agreements.   He also spoke regarding the benefit of over eighty percent of the tax revenue which 
is generated from citizens located outside of our County who are shopping at businesses located 
throughout the City and the County; this alleviates a tax burden on the citizens of Dawson County.  
He reported the City has been working closely with the Dawson County Board of Commissioners 
through public meetings and individual meetings negotiating the terms; he stressed he is confident 
they will reach an agreement.  Currently our SPLOST VI is an 85% (County)/15% (City) split and 
will end on June 30, 2021.  SPLOST VII will most likely be on the ballot in March for the public to 
vote on and if passed, it will begin on July 1, 2021.  He stated the City Council will consider approval 
of an IGA this evening and a resolution which would preserve the rights of the citizens of the City 
for a share of the SPLOST funds in the event an agreement could not be reached with the County, 
although that is unlikely.  Mayor Eason further spoke about population estimates for the City and 
the County which based on reasonable projections puts the City at 19.3% of the total population, 
however, the City is only proposing 17% of the tax revenue from SPLOST VII.  Again, the Mayor 
stressed the importance of working closely with the County to obtain the funding from SPLOST 
which will be used for projects benefitting both the City and the County residents.  Councilmember 
Tolson agreed with the Mayor stating he believes they will be able to reach an agreement with the 
County and spoke about partnering with the County in areas of public safety.  Councilmember 
Phillips also stated the commitment of the City to help fund with public safety staff costs but those 
cannot come from SPLOST funding.  Councilmember French stated his appreciation of the 
willingness of the Commissioners to work with the City emphasizing the mutual goal of serving the 
citizens.   

 

8. SPLOST VII RESOLUTION:  Attorney Tallant provided a brief explanation of the proposed 
resolution and City Manager Bolz read the resolution.  Mayor Eason restated the intention is to 
preserve the position of the City and is hopeful an agreement will be reached with the County.   
 

Motion to approve the resolution as presented made by C. Phillips; second by S. Tolson.  Vote 
carried unanimously in favor. (Exhibit “A”) 
 

9. SPLOST VII IGA:  Mayor Eason stated, if approved, the Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) will 
be sent to the County for consideration.  The form of the agreement (not the content) has been 
approved by the County’s Attorney.   
 

Motion to approve the Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) as presented made by S. Tolson; 
second by J. Walden.  Vote carried unanimously in favor. (Exhibit “B”) 
 

Mayor Eason requested City Manager Bolz deliver two originals of the IGA and one original of the 
resolution to the County the following morning.  



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL CALLED MEETING 

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers, City Hall 2nd Floor 
Wednesday, December 2, 2020 

 5:30 P.M. 

 

Page 2 of 2 
 

 
 

 
ADJOURNMENT:   
 

At 5:54 p.m. a motion to adjourn the meeting was made by M. French; second by J. Walden.  Vote 
carried unanimously in favor.   

 
    Minutes approved at the December 21, 2020 City Council meeting     

 
 
By: CITY OF DAWSONVILLE 

         
         
              ___________________________________ 
   Mike Eason, Mayor 
 
 
   ___________________________________ 
   Caleb Phillips, Councilmember Post 1 
 
  
   ___________________________________ 
   Stephen Tolson, Councilmember Post 2 
 
 
   ___________________________________ 
   John Walden, Councilmember Post 3 
 
 
   ___________________________________ 
   Mark French, Councilmember Post 4 
    
 
 
 
 
Attested: ________________________        
              Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk 
 



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "B"



Exhibit "B"



Exhibit "B"



Exhibit "B"



Exhibit "B"



Exhibit "B"



Exhibit "B"



AGENDA 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, December 7, 2020 

5:00 P.M. 
 

Page 1 of 3 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Mike Eason called the meeting to order at 5:00 pm.    

2. ROLL CALL:  Present were Councilmember John Walden, Councilmember Mark French, 
Councilmember Caleb Phillips, Councilmember Stephen Tolson, City Attorneys Dana Miles and Kevin 
Tallant, City Manager Bob Bolz, Deputy City Clerk Tracy Smith, Public Works Director Trampas 
Hansard, Planning Director David Picklesimer and Utilities Crew Chief Jacob Barr.    

3. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE:  Invocation and Pledge were led by Councilmember Phillips.   

4. ANNOUNCEMENTS:  Mayor Eason thanked everyone who came to the Christmas Tree Lighting and 
for the Chamber of Commerce and the City Staff who worked so hard to make it a successful event. 
He also thanked Loyte Bennet for his construction of the Santa sleigh used for photos. He noted the 
County has acquired a hook and ladder truck for Station 2, which is important for our community. The 
City was offering to provide half the funding; however, the City can also provide funding from our share 
of SPLOST for an additional engine to enhance coverage in the City.  He reminded citizens that early 
voting starts in a few weeks.     

5. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA:  Request made by Councilmember French to remove item 7e. 
Approve 2021 Renewal of Professional Services from the Consent Agenda; this will become item 12 
on the agenda.   

 

Motion to approve agenda as amended made by M. French; second by S. Tolson.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor.   

6. PUBLIC INPUT:  No comments from the public.   

7. CONSENT AGENDA:  Motion to approve the consent agenda for the following items (a, b, c, d, f, g, 
h) made by S. Tolson; second by J. Walden. Vote carried unanimously in favor.  

a. Approve Minutes  
• Regular Meeting and Work Session held November 16, 2020 
• Executive Session held November 16, 2020 
• Special Called Joint Meeting held November 17, 2020 
• Executive Session held November 17, 2020 

b. Approve 2021 Edmunds GovTech Software Maintenance Agreement 
c. Approve 2021 Equipment Lease Agreements for Printers 
d. Approve 2021 Staff Appointments 

• City Manager – Bob Bolz 
• City Clerk – Beverly Banister 
• Municipal Court Clerk – Beverly Banister 
• Deputy City Clerk – Tracy Smith 

e. Removed from Consent Agenda and Moved to Item #12 
f. Approve 2021 Mayor and Council Board Designations and Compensation: Authorize 

approval for payment of one meeting per month as designated when attended 
• Planning Commission – Caleb Phillips 
• Historic Preservation Commission – Mark French 
• Downtown Development Authority – Stephen Tolson 
• Family Connection – John Walden 
• Board of Health – Mark French 
• Animal Control Board – Caleb Phillips 
• Chamber of Commerce – Mayor or Mayor Pro-Tem 
• Dawsonville History Museum – Mayor 
• GMA – Mayor or Mayor Pro-Tem 
• GMRC – Mayor or Mayor Pro-Tem 

       
 

  



AGENDA 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, December 7, 2020 

5:00 P.M. 
 

Page 2 of 3 
 

g. Approve 2021 Agreement with Municipal Court Judge  
h. Approve GMA Safety and Liability Management Grant: Grant accepted in the amount of 

$5,109.83 
 

      BUSINESS 
 

8. FY 2019-2020 AUDIT PRESENTATION AND APPROVAL:  Bryan St. Pierre, CPA from Alexander, 
Almand & Bangs, presented the audit report of the City’s financial statements of the governmental 
activities for the fiscal year July 1, 2019 through June 30, 2020.   
 

Motion to approve the financial statements as submitted by M. French; second by J. Walden.  Vote 
carried unanimously in favor. 
 

9. REVIEW OF CITY LEASES:  A request was made by Mayor Eason for City Manager Bolz and 
Councilmember Tolson to review the leases of the three City rental properties and present a 
recommendation at the December 21, 2020 meeting. 
 

10. RENEWAL OF VAPE LICENSES:  Planning Director Picklesimer presented the licenses to be 
renewed.   

 

Motion to approve the renewal of the 2021 Vape Licenses made by C. Phillips; second by S Tolson.  
Vote carried unanimously in favor.    

11. DDA RECOMMENDATION FOR GRANT DISBURSEMENT:  Councilmember Tolson spoke on the 
recommendation from the DDA to make an exception for grant disbursement as requested by the 
Dawsonville History Museum for their approved grant funding to be disbursed in two payments.    
 

Motion to allow an exception to the DDA Grant Guidelines for an interim payment of funds upon receipt 
of related invoices of the approved project and inspection to be made of the progress of the project by 
a DDA member before disbursement made by S. Tolson; second by C. Phillips.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor.    

12. APPROVE 2021 RENEWAL OF PROFESSIONAL SERVICES:  Councilmember French asked if 
there were any changes in rates; City Manager Bolz stated there were none.   
 

Motion made by C. Phillips to approve the renewal of professional services as presented below: 
 

• City Attorney – Miles, Hansford & Tallant, LLC 
• Auditor – Alexander, Almand and Bangs, LLP 
• Engineer – Turnipseed Engineers 
• Municipal Court Judge – Ron Reemsnyder 
• City Solicitor – Jonah Howell 
• Testing of Wastewater – Environmental Management Services 
• Geologist – Bob Atkins 
• Repair/Installation of Water/Sewer Infrastructure – Townley Construction 
• Airport Consultant Engineering Services – Lead Edge Design Group 

 

Second by S. Tolson.  Councilmember French stated in his opinion legal has on multiple occasions 
exhibited prejudice against a seated Councilmember and he cannot support a law firm that would do 
so do a seated Councilmember.  Vote carried three in favor (Phillips, Tolson, Walden) and one 
opposed (French)      

          EXECUTIVE SESSION:         

At 5:39 pm a motion to close regular session and go into executive session for Personnel was made    
by M. French; second by J. Walden.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.       

At 6:07 p.m. a motion to close executive session and resume regular sessions was made by J. Walden; 
second made by S. Tolson.  Vote carried unanimously in favor. 
 

 



AGENDA 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, December 7, 2020 

5:00 P.M. 
 

Page 3 of 3 
 

          ADJOURNMENT: 
 

At 6:10 pm a motion to adjourn the meeting was made by M. French; second by J. Walden.  Vote 
carried unanimously in favor.  

 
Minutes approved at the December 21, 2020 City Council meeting 

 
By: CITY OF DAWSONVILLE 
       
                  
___________________________________  
Mike Eason, Mayor 

 
 
   ___________________________________  
   Caleb Phillips, Councilmember Post 1 
 
 
   ___________________________________  
   Stephen Tolson, Councilmember Post 2 
 
 
   ___________________________________  
   John Walden, Councilmember Post 3 
 
 
   ___________________________________  
   Mark French, Councilmember Post 4 
    
 
 
 
Attested: _________________________        
              Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  



                                           
 

     SUBJECT:   APPROVE CONTRACT AND BUDGET AMENDMENT FOR LASERFICHE 
SOFTWARE  

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  12/21/2020       
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

   TO CONSIDER APPROVAL OF A CONTRACT FOR LASERFICHE SOFTWARE THROUGH MCCI AND APPROVE A BUDGET 
AMENDMENT FROM GENERAL FUND RESERVES IN THE AMOUNT OF $19,152.50 TO PAY FOR THE PROJECT  

 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

THE CITY OF DAWSONVILLE HAS NO RECORDS MANAGEMENT SOFTWARE AND IT IS OFTEN A DIFFICULT TASK TO 
RETRIEVE INFORMATION AND RECORDS IN A TIMELY MANNER. I HAVE ATTEMPTED TO CATEGORIZE AND INVENTORY THE 
CITY RECORDS BUT RETRIEVAL STILL REMAINS A MAJOR ISSUE.  LASERFICHE SOFTWARE WILL ALLOW FOR 
CONSISTENT CATEGORIZATION AND INVENTORY OF ALL RECORDS AND AN OPTIMAL SEARCH FEATURE. 
 

I RESEARCHED THREE COMPANIES AND PARTICIPATED IN DEMOS WITH ALL OF THEM AND ALSO REACHED OUT TO MY 
CLERK NETWORK TO RECEIVE RECOMMENDATIONS.  I FOUND THE LASERFICHE SOFTWARE THROUGH MCCI TO BE THE 
BEST PRODUCT FOR THE CITY.  IT WAS ALSO THE EASIEST TO UNDERSTAND AND PRESUMABLY, TO USE.  SET UP, 
TRAINING AND ONGOING ASSISTANCE IS ALSO CRUCIAL AND THEIR SOFTWARE PACKAGE INCLUDES ALL OF IT.  DESPITE 
THE HIGHER COST, I FOUND THIS TO BE THE MOST BENEFICIAL PRODUCT FOR THE CITY.  
 

1. NEXUS IMAGING SOLUTIONS 
• Total Project Cost: $5,100.00  
• Recurring Annual Subscription:  $3,000 

 

2. AMERICAN DOCUMENT SECURITIES, INC. 
• Total Project Cost: $12,372.00  
• Recurring Annual Subscription: $3,372 

 

3. MCCi 
• Total Project Cost $19,152.50  
• Recurring Annual Subscription: $3,695 

 

THERE IS NO STATE CONTRACT FOR RECORDS MANAGEMENT SOFTWARE, HOWEVER, MCCi WAS AWARDED THE 
NATIONAL CONTRACT FOR GOVERNMENT PURCHASING AND THIS PRICE IS REFLECTED IN THE QUOTE.          

     OPTIONS: 
APPROVE, AMEND OR DENY 
 
 
 

    REQUESTED BY: Beverly Banister, City Clerk______     

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #    8    
 

 

 

































MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT NO. 60197 
 

 
Last updated:  June 25, 2020  Page 1 of 7 
 

This Master Services Agreement No. 60197 ("Agreement") is effective 
on the date of the last signature, (“Effective Date”) and is made by 
and between MCCi, LLC, a Florida limited liability company, and its 
Affiliates with its principal office located at 3717 Apalachee Parkway, 
Suite 201, Tallahassee, FL 32311 (“MCCi") and Client (defined herein). 
MCCi and Client may each be referred to individually herein as “Party” 
or collectively as the “Parties”. 
 
The terms “Client” in this Agreement shall also include Client’s 
“Affiliates,” defined as a legal entity that directly or indirectly controls, 
is controlled by, or is under common control with the party. It is agreed 
that Client’s Affiliates shall enjoy the same rights, benefits and obligations 
set forth in this Agreement as are applicable to Client. 
 
The Parties hereto intending to be legally bound hereby, agree as follows: 
 
1. Scope of Service 
MCCi and Client may develop and enter into one or more sales orders, 
attached herein or incorporated by reference, incorporating a description 
of the specific goods and/or services requested by Client (each, and as 
modified in writing by the Parties, an “Order”). MCCi will provide to 
Client those goods and/or services described as its obligation in the Order 
(collectively, the “Services”). If applicable, each Order will also describe 
items specifically required to be delivered by MCCi to Client (the 
“Deliverables”), and the acceptance criteria for each of the Deliverables. 
Further, each Order will set forth, among other things, tasks to be 
performed by the Parties and roles and responsibilities of each Party. 
Each Order shall specifically identify this Agreement and indicate that it 
is subject to the terms hereof. To the extent there are any conflicts or 
inconsistencies between this Agreement and any Order or Client 
purchase order, except in regard to Sections 2 or 3 herein, the provisions 
of this Agreement shall govern and control. To the extent that there are 
any conflicts or inconsistencies between this Agreement and any Client-
entered third party government purchasing agreement (“Purchasing 
Vehicle”, the provisions of the Purchasing Vehicle shall govern and 
control. 
 
No change order, notice, direction, authorization, notification or request 
(collectively, “Change Order”) will be binding upon Client or MCCi, nor 
will such Change Order be the basis for any claim for additional 
compensation by MCCi, until Client and MCCi have agreed in writing to 
change the terms of an applicable Order, or to execute a new Order, as 
appropriate. 
 
2. Fees 
Client shall pay to MCCi the fees and other compensation set forth in 
each Order. By executing the applicable Order, Client acknowledges their 
pre-approval for any Order Expenses quoted. Unless otherwise specified, 
Client will also reimburse MCCi for all reasonable out-of-pocket travel, 
living and other ancillary expenses paid or incurred by MCCi in connection 
with the Services (“Order Expenses”). If relevant, MCCi will follow 
Client’s expense policy, to the best of its ability. If a dispute occurs 
regarding MCCi’s billing of Order Expenses in conformity with Client’s 
expense policy and greater than five percent (5%) of a specific bill, such 
dispute will be subject to investigation and correction; otherwise Client 
agrees to reimburse MCCi for the full amount of expenses billed. The 
Client acknowledges that it may incur expenses due to circumstances 
such as non-refundable airline tickets, training/install charges, hotel 
reservations, rental cars, etc., in the event that i) Client cancels or 
reschedules the event, after MCCi has made these arrangements; or ii) 
If Client site/team is not prepared upon MCCi’s arrival, which results in 
cancellation, delays, and/or the need to reperform Deliverables. 

 
Client acknowledges that the price of the license and/or subscription for 
the use of a third-party licensed product is subject to increases during 
the term of the license and/or subscription or at the time of renewal.  In 
the event that MCCi is reselling a license and/or subscription to a third-
party product to Client with at least 15 days prior to written notice (an 
email will be sufficient) of an increase in the price of the license and/or 
subscription.  To the extent that Client does not agree to pay such 
increase in the license and/or subscription, Client must provide written 
notice to MCCi within 15 days of notice of such increase.  Upon receipt 
of such notice, MCCi will cancel Client’s license and/or subscription to the 
third-party licensed product. 
 
3. Invoicing and Payment 
Unless otherwise stated in an Order, MCCi will invoice Client for all fees, 
charges and reimbursable expenses on a monthly basis and upon 
completion of each Order.  
 
Client agrees to pay all undisputed invoices and undisputed portions of 
a disputed invoice in full within thirty (30) days from the date of each 
invoice. Failure to pay invoices by the due date, unless MCCi has been 
informed by said due date that an invoice is being contested and the 
reason therefore, may result in the imposition of interest charges to the 
extent allowable by law as well as any associated legal and collection 
fees incurred.  
 
Client further agrees to pay amounts equal to any federal, state or local 
sales, use, excise, privilege or other taxes or assessments, however 
designated or levied, relating to any amounts payable by Client to MCCi 
under this Agreement or any other Agreement between the Parties, 
exclusive of taxes based on MCCi’s net income or net worth, and 
understands and accepts that any pricing defined in an Order does not 
include such taxes. 
 
All recurring software maintenance support, subscriptions, and/or other 
service packages (“Recurring Services”) will automatically renew and 
be billed unless Client has terminated the Agreement per Section 4 below 
or provided sixty (60) days written notice prior to the scheduled renewal 
date of the Recurring Services. Once payment has been received, no 
refunds for Recurring Services are available. 
 
4. Term, Termination, and Cancellation 
This Agreement will commence on the Effective Date and will be effective 
for a one (1) year period and will renew automatically for one (1) year 
periods and continue in full force and effect, unless terminated by either 
Party as set forth below. Termination of this Agreement or any Order 
hereunder may occur upon any of the following: 
(a) Thirty (30) days after a Party’s receipt of written notice from the 

other Party that this Agreement or the Services, in whole or in part 
under an Order, shall be terminated; or 

(b) Thirty (30) days after one Party notifies the other in writing that 
they are in breach or default of this Agreement, unless the 
negligent Party cures such breach or default within such thirty (30) 
day period; or 

(c) Fifteen (15) days after the filing of a petition in bankruptcy by or 
against either Party, any insolvency of a Party, any appointment 
of a receiver for such Party, or any assignment for the benefit of 
such Party’s creditors (a “Bankruptcy Event”), unless such Party 
cures such Bankruptcy Event within the fifteen (15) day period. 

 
In all events, Client shall be liable for full payment for Services and 
reimbursement of MCCi's expenses incurred through the effective date 



MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT NO. 60197 
 

 
Last updated:  June 25, 2020  Page 2 of 7 
 

of termination. If Client cancels or puts on hold an Order between 
completed milestones, MCCi will invoice Client for a pro-rated share of 
the uncompleted milestone(s) for Services performed through the date 
of such termination or delay. 
 
5. Working Arrangements 
All Services shall be performed remotely, unless otherwise agreed to by 
the Parties. If Services are to be performed on Client’s premises, Client 
shall provide the following to MCCi Personnel: (i) a suitable and adequate 
work environment, including space for work and equipment for 
performance of the Services; (ii) access to and use of Client’s facilities 
and relevant information, including all necessary software, hardware and 
documentation; (iii) timely assistance in the acquisition of, or correction 
of any hardware or software problems that would affect the performance 
of Services; and (iv) any other items set forth in each Order.  
 
Client will ensure that all Client’s personnel, vendors, and/or 
subcontractors who may be necessary or appropriate for the successful 
performance of the Services will, on reasonable notice: (i) be available 
to assist MCCi Personnel by answering business, technical and 
operational questions and providing requested documents, guidelines 
and procedures in a timely manner; (ii) participate in the Services as 
reasonably necessary for performance under an Order; and (iii) be 
available to assist MCCi with any other activities or tasks required to 
complete the Services in accordance with the Order. 
 
6. MCCi Personnel 
Neither MCCi nor its Personnel are or shall be deemed to be employees 
of Client but rather as independent contractors. MCCi shall be responsible 
for the compensation of its Personnel, in addition to any applicable 
employment taxes, workmen's compensation and any other taxes, 
insurance or provisions associated with the employment of such 
personnel.  
 
In addition, MCCi shall be responsible for all acts or omissions of its 
Personnel. MCCi will also not discriminate in the referral or hiring of MCCi 
Personnel on the bases of race, religion, sexual orientation, color, sex, 
age, national origin, disability that does not affect the ability for an 
individual to perform his or her job, or other protected categories as 
required by state, federal, and local laws. 
 
MCCi may utilize independent subcontractors in satisfying its obligations 
under this Agreement (collectively with MCCi employees “Personnel”).  
MCCi affirms to Client that these resources will adhere to and are subject 
to the same representations made by MCCi throughout this Agreement.   
 
Upon receipt of notice from Client that any MCCi Personnel is not suitable, 
MCCi shall remove such person from the performance of Services and 
will provide a qualified replacement as quickly as possible.  
 
Unless a particular MCCi Personnel member has been identified as a key 
resource to the relevant Order, MCCi at its sole discretion may reassign, 
if and as necessary, other appropriately qualified MCCi Personnel to the 
relevant Order as long as such assignment will not affect MCCi’s fee for 
the Services defined or ability to satisfy its Deliverables. 
 
Neither Party shall be deemed to be a legal representative of the other 
nor has any authority, either express or implied, to bind or obligate the 
other in any way. 
 

7. Non-Solicitation 
Each Party agrees not to directly or indirectly solicit, offer employment 
to, or accept any services outside of this Agreement from any employee 
or independent contractor of the other Party who provided services for 
the non-soliciting Party within the previous twelve (12) months, during 
the term of this Agreement, and for twelve (12) months 
thereafter. Notwithstanding the foregoing, either Party may solicit for 
employment, offer employment to, employ, or engage as a consultant or 
advisor, any of the other Party’s personnel who: (i) had no previous 
direct contact with the soliciting Party’s personnel in connection with, 
and during the performance of, the Services hereunder, or (ii) have 
responded to a general, publicly-available advertisement for employment 
at such Party (including its affiliates), or (iii) make unsolicited approaches 
or inquiries to such Party (including its affiliates) regarding employment 
opportunities. The current employing Party, in its sole discretion, may 
waive this provision in writing for an individual. In consideration for such 
waiver, other Party agrees to pay a placement fee equal to fifty percent 
(50%) of such person’s new total annual compensation. This placement 
fee shall be due immediately upon such person’s commencement of 
services. 
 
8. Confidential Information 
The Parties acknowledge that in the course of MCCi providing Services 
for Client hereunder, each may receive Confidential Information (as 
defined below) of the other Party. Any and all Confidential Information 
in any form or media obtained by a Recipient shall be held in confidence 
and shall not be copied, reproduced, or disclosed to third parties for any 
purpose whatsoever except as necessary in connection with the Services 
provided under this Agreement. The Recipient further acknowledges that 
it shall not use such Confidential Information for any purposes other than 
in connection with the activities contemplated by this Agreement. All 
consultants assigned by MCCi to Client will sign appropriate forms of 
confidentiality agreements on or prior to their start date. 
 
“Confidential Information” means any and all confidential 
information of a Party disclosed to the other Party, including, but not 
limited to, research, development, proprietary software, technical 
information, techniques, know-how, trade secrets, processes, customers, 
employees, consultants, pricing information and financial and business 
information, plans and systems. Confidential Information shall not 
include information which: (i) was known to the Party receiving the 
information (the “Recipient”) prior to the time of disclosure by the other 
Party (the “Disclosing Party”); (ii) at the time of disclosure is generally 
available to the public or after disclosure becomes generally available to 
the public through no breach of agreement or other wrongful act by the 
Recipient; (iii) was lawfully received by Recipient from a third party 
without any obligation of confidentiality; or (iv) is required to be disclosed 
by law or order of a court of competent jurisdiction or regulatory 
authority. 
 
The obligations set forth in this Section shall survive termination of this 
Agreement for a period of three (3) years thereafter. 
 
9. Intellectual Property 
Unless otherwise specified in any Order, title to all materials, products 
and/or Deliverables, including, but not limited to, reports, designs, 
programs, specifications, documentation, manuals, visual aids, and any 
other materials developed and/or prepared for Client by MCCi under any 
Order (whether or not such Order is completed) (“Works”), and all 
interest therein shall vest in Client and shall be deemed to be a work 
made for hire and made in the course of the Services rendered hereunder. 
MCCi shall retain a non-exclusive, royalty-free, world-wide, perpetual 



MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT NO. 60197 
 

 
Last updated:  June 25, 2020  Page 3 of 7 
 

license to use, sell, modify, distribute and create derivative works based 
upon any of the foregoing Works in its information technology 
professional services business, provided that in so doing MCCi shall not 
use or disclose any Client Confidential Information or Deliverables unique 
to or owned by Client. To the extent that title to any such Works may 
not, by operation of law, vest in Client or such Works may not be 
considered works made for hire, all rights, title and interest therein are 
hereby irrevocably assigned to Client. All such Works shall belong 
exclusively to Client, except as set forth herein, with Client having the 
right to obtain and to hold in its own name, copyrights, registrations or 
such other protection as may be appropriate to the subject matter, and 
any extensions and renewals thereof. MCCi agrees to give Client and any 
person designated by Client, reasonable assistance, at Client's expense, 
required to perfect the rights defined in this Section 8. Unless otherwise 
requested by Client, upon the completion of the Services to be performed 
under each Order or upon the earlier termination of such Order, MCCi 
shall immediately turn over to Client all Works and Deliverables 
developed pursuant to such Order, including, but not limited to, working 
papers, narrative descriptions, reports and data. 
 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the following shall not constitute the 
property of Client: (i) MCCi software, including but not limited to any 
proprietary code (source and object), which is subject to third-party 
license agreements with MCCi; (ii) those portions of the Deliverables 
which include information in the public domain or which are generic ideas, 
concepts, know-how and techniques within the computer design, support 
and consulting business generally; and (iii) those portions of the 
Deliverables which contain the computer consulting knowledge, 
techniques, tools, routines and sub-routines, utilities, know-how, 
methodologies and information which MCCi had prior to or acquired 
during the performance of its Services for Client and which do not contain 
any Confidential Information (as hereinafter defined) of Client conveyed 
to MCCi. To the extent that any portion of the Deliverables includes 
information or material that falls within the exceptions to property of 
Client described in Subsection (iii) above, MCCi shall be deemed to have 
granted Client a paid up, world-wide, non-exclusive license to use any 
such information or material imbedded in the Deliverables for its internal 
business needs and a non-exclusive license to make copies thereof for 
use only in its and its affiliates’ facilities, subject to third party license 
agreements, if any. Should MCCi, in performing any Services hereunder, 
use any computer program, code or other materials developed by it 
independently of the Services provided hereunder (“Pre-existing 
Work”), MCCi shall retain any and all rights in such Pre-existing Work. 
MCCi hereby grants Client a paid up, world-wide, non-exclusive license 
to use and reproduce the Pre-existing Work for its internal business 
needs. 
 
Client understands and agrees that MCCi may perform similar services 
for third Parties using the same personnel that MCCi may use for 
rendering Services for Client hereunder, subject to MCCi’s obligations 
respecting Client’s Confidential Information pursuant to Section 8. 
 
10. Data Privacy 
In the event that MCCi, in the course of providing Services to Client, 
receives, stores, maintains, processes or otherwise has access to 
“Personal Information” (as defined by the State Data Protection Laws 
and/or European Union Directives, and including, but not limited to, an 
individual’s name and social security number, driver’s license number or 
financial number) then MCCi shall safeguard this information in 
accordance with these laws. MCCi may disclose Personal Information for 
business purposes only on a need-to-know basis and only with (i) MCCi 
Personnel, (ii) any third party service providers that has agreed to 

safeguard Personal Data in a like manner as MCCi safeguards such 
information, and (iii) with other entities authorized to have access to 
such information under applicable law or regulation. MCCi may disclose 
Personal Data when necessary to protect its rights and property, to 
enforce its terms of use and legal agreements, as required or permitted 
by law, or at the request of law enforcement authorities and the courts, 
and pursuant to a subpoena. MCCi shall have no duty to notify Client of 
such compliance with law. MCCi takes reasonable and appropriate 
measures to maintain the confidentiality and security of Personal Data 
and to prevent its unauthorized use or disclosure.  To the extent that 
MCCi experiences a Security Breach as defined under the State Data 
Protection Laws for information generated in connection with this 
Agreement or any Order hereto, MCCi shall notify Client in writing within 
five (5) business days of discovering such Security Breach. 
 
11. Warranty 
 

(a) Services Warranty. 
MCCi warrants that all Services shall be performed by personnel with 
relevant skill sets and familiar with the subject matter for the Order in a 
professional, competent and workman-like manner. 
 
MCCi’s delivery of a Deliverable to Client shall constitute a representation 
by MCCi that it has conducted a review of the Deliverable and believes it 
meets the written specifications set forth in the corresponding Order. 
Client shall then have the right to conduct any review of the Deliverable 
as Client shall deem necessary or desirable. If Client, in its reasonable 
discretion, determines that any submitted Deliverable does not meet the 
agreed upon specifications, Client shall have five (5) business days after 
MCCi’s submission to give written notice to MCCi specifying the 
deficiencies in reasonable detail. MCCi shall use reasonable efforts to 
promptly cure any such deficiencies. After completing any such cure, 
MCCi shall resubmit the Deliverable for review as set forth above. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Client fails to reject any Deliverable 
within five (5) business days, such Deliverable shall be deemed accepted. 
 
MCCi does not warrant that the Services or Deliverables will be 
uninterrupted or error-free, provided that MCCi shall remain obligated 
pursuant to this Section 11. If the Services fail to conform to the 
foregoing warranty in any material respect, Client’s initial remedy will be 
for MCCi, at its expense, to promptly use commercially reasonable efforts 
to cure or correct such failure. Upon failure of the foregoing, Client’s 
remedies, and MCCi’s entire liability, as a result of such failure, shall be 
subject to the limitations set forth in Section 12 below. The foregoing 
warranty is expressly conditioned upon (i) Client providing MCCi with 
prompt written notice of any claim thereunder prior to the expiration 
thereof, which notice must identify with particularity the non-conformity; 
(ii) Client’s full cooperation with MCCi in all reasonable respects relating 
thereto, including, in the case of modified software, assisting MCCi to 
locate and reproduce the non-conformity; and (iii) with respect to any 
Deliverable, the absence of any alteration or other modification of such 
Deliverable by any person or entity other than MCCi. The Parties 
acknowledge and agree that this Agreement relates solely to the 
performance of services (not the sale of goods) and, accordingly, will not 
be governed by the Uniform Commercial Code of any State having 
jurisdiction.  MCCi also does not warrant any third-party products 
procured on behalf of Client, and if there are any product warranties 
provided by the manufacturer of the product, any remedy should be 
requested directly from manufacturer. 
 
EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY PROVIDED IN THIS SECTION 10, MCCI DOES 
NOT MAKE OR GIVE ANY REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY, WHETHER 



MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT NO. 60197 
 

 
Last updated:  June 25, 2020  Page 4 of 7 
 

SUCH REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY BE EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, 
INCLUDING ANY WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, QUALITY, OR 
FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE OR ANY REPRESENTATION OR 
WARRANTY FROM COURSE OF DEALING OR USAGE OF TRADE. 
 
In the event that Client asserts any claim for warranty services hereunder 
and such claim relates to any matter that is mutually determined by the 
Parties not to be MCCi’s responsibility hereunder (including any problem 
with Client’s computer hardware or software that was not caused by any 
Services performed by MCCi), Client shall pay MCCi for all costs incurred 
for all evaluation, correction or other services performed by MCCi relating 
to such claim on a time and materials basis at MCCi’s then standard billing 
rates. 
 

(b) General Warranty. 
MCCi shall perform the Services in compliance with all applicable 
international, federal and state laws and regulations and industry codes, 
including but not limited to (i) federal and state anti-kickback laws and 
regulations and laws governing payments to and relationships with 
healthcare professionals, including 42 U.S.C. §1320a-7b(b); (ii) federal 
Food and Drug Administration laws, regulations and guidance, including 
the federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act and the Prescription Drug 
Marketing Act, (iii) federal and state securities laws, meaning that MCCi 
agrees that Client may be a publicly traded company and MCCi shall 
instruct MCCi Personnel that federal and state securities laws prohibit the 
purchase, sale, or pledge of Client stock while in possession of any 
material, non-public information, (iv) the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act 
of 1977, and the UK Bribery Act, the 1997 OECD Convention on 
Combating Bribery of Foreign Public Officials in International Business 
Transactions,  and (v) international, federal and state privacy and data 
protection laws, including, but not limited to, the relevant European 
Union directives, Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 
1996 and the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical 
Health Act, Chapter 93H of The Massachusetts General Laws and its 
implementing regulations, 201 CMR 17.00, and Cal. Civ. Code § 
1798.80-.84 (collectively, “State Data Protection Laws”).  
 
12. Indemnification and Limitation of Liability 
 
• For bodily injury or personal property damage arising out of the 

indemnifying Party’s performance within the scope of its 
responsibilities under this Agreement. 

• A breach of such the Indemnifying Party’s obligations with respect 
to confidentiality 

• A breach by the Indemnifying Party of applicable laws. 
• Caused by negligent acts, omissions or willful misconduct of the 

Indemnifying Party. 
 

(a) MCCi Indemnification.  
MCCi shall defend, indemnify and hold Client harmless against Claims 
made or brought against Client by a third party alleging that the use of 
any Deliverable as provided to Client under this Agreement or any Order 
hereto and used in accordance with this Agreement and relevant 
documentation, infringes any third party’s intellectual property rights. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, MCCi shall not be required to indemnify 
Client to the extent the alleged infringement: (x) is based on information 
or requirements furnished by Client, (y) is the result of a modification 
made by a party other than MCCi, or (z) arises from use of a Deliverable 
in combination with any other product or service not provided by MCCi. If 
Client is enjoined from using the Deliverable or MCCi reasonably believes 
that Client will be enjoined, MCCi shall have the right, at its sole option, 
to obtain for Client the right to continue use of the Deliverable or to 

replace or modify the Deliverable so that it is no longer infringing. If 
neither of the foregoing options is reasonably available to MCCi, then this 
Agreement may be terminated at either Party’s option and MCCi’s sole 
liability shall be subject to the limitation of liability provided in this Section. 

 
 
(b) Indemnification Procedure.  

Each indemnified Party shall give the indemnifying Party (a) prompt 
written notice of the Claim; (b) sole control of the defense and settlement 
of the Claim (provided that the indemnifying Party may not settle any 
Claim unless it unconditionally releases the indemnified Party of all 
liability); and (c) at indemnifying Party's cost, all reasonable assistance.  
 

(c) Limitation of Liability.  
In no event shall either Party be liable for special, exemplary, incidental, 
or consequential damages (including, without limitation, lost revenues, 
profits, savings or business) or loss of records or data, whether or not 
the possibility of such damages has been disclosed to such Party in 
advance or could have been reasonably foreseen by such Party, and 
whether in an action based on contract, warranty, strict liability, tort 
(including, without limitation, negligence) or otherwise. Except for a 
Party’s indemnification obligations, each Party's maximum aggregate 
liability for all claims, losses or other liability arising out of, or connected 
with, this Agreement, the Services contemplated hereunder or Client’s 
use of any such Services or Deliverables, and whether based upon 
contract, warranty, strict liability, tort (including, without limitation, 
negligence), or otherwise, shall in no case exceed the aggregate 
amounts paid to MCCi by Client under the applicable Order, giving rise 
to such claim during the last six (6) months. Each Party's entire liability 
and Client's remedies under this Agreement shall be subject to the 
limitations contained in this Section 12. The limitations on warranty and 
liability specified in Sections 11 and 12 hereof will survive and apply even 
if any limited remedy herein is found to have failed of its essential 
purpose.  
 
The Parties acknowledge that the limitation of warranties and liabilities 
as set out in this Agreement are an essential basis of this Agreement and 
that the prices agreed to be paid by Client for Services reflect these 
limitations.  
 
13. Insurance 
During the term of this Agreement, MCCi shall carry, at its sole expense, 
insurance coverage to include at a minimum the following: 
• Workers Compensation: State statutory limits and $1,000,000 

employers’ liability 
• Comprehensive General Liability: $2,000,000 per occurrence and 

$4,000,000 in the aggregate 
• Professional Liability: $1,000,000 per occurrence and $3,000,000 

in the aggregate 
• Errors and Omissions: $1,000,000 per occurrence 
• Cyber and Technical Errors and Omissions: $3,000,000 in the 

aggregate 
 

14. Notices 
All notices, demands and other communications required or permitted 
hereunder or in connection herewith shall be in writing and shall be 
deemed to have been duly given if delivered (including by receipt verified 
electronic transmission) or mailed in the Continental United States by 
first class mail, postage prepaid, to a Party at the following address, or 
to such other address as such Party may hereafter specify by notice: 

 



MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT NO. 60197 
 

 
Last updated:  June 25, 2020  Page 5 of 7 
 

If to MCCi If to Client: 
MCCi, LLC Dawsonville, GA 
3717 Apalachee Parkway, Suite 201  415 Highway 53 East 
Tallahassee, FL 32311 Dawsonville, GA 30534 
Attn: Legal Department 
Email: legal@mccinnovations.com  

Attn: Beverly Banister 

 
15. Miscellaneous 
 

(a) 3rd Party EULA Provisions. 
Client acknowledges that they are responsible for adhering to any 3rd 
party End User License Agreements (“EULA”), whether supplied by MCCi 
as a convenience or not, for any products procured on behalf of Client 
by MCCi.  
 

(b) Use of Open Source Code. 
Except as disclosed in the Order, MCCi does not distribute nor otherwise 
use any open source or similar software in a manner that would obligate 
MCCi to disclose, license, make available or distribute any of its material 
proprietary source code as a condition of such use.  For purposes of this 
Agreement, “Open Source” shall mean any software or other 
Intellectual Property that is distributed or made available as “open source 
software” or “free software” or is otherwise publicly distributed or made 
generally available in source code or equivalent form under terms that 
permit modification and redistribution of such software or Intellectual 
Property. Open Source Materials includes software that is licensed under 
the GNU General Public License, GNU Lesser General Public License, 
Mozilla License, Common Public License, Apache License or BSD License, 
as well as all other similar “public” licenses. 
 

(c) Client Software Customizations. 
Client may choose to customize their software internally without MCCi’s 
help. MCCi is not responsible for any damages caused by Client’s 
customization of the software. MCCi will not be held responsible for 
correcting any problems that may occur from these customizations.  
 

(d) MCCi Software Configuration Services. 
Client may elect to contract with MCCi to configure Client’s software. In 
these situations, Client acknowledges they are responsible for testing all 
software configurations and as such, waives any and all liability to MCCi 
for any damages that could be related to these software configurations. 
 

(e) Force Majeure.  
If either of the Parties hereto are delayed or prevented from fulfilling any 
of its obligations under this Agreement by force majeure, said Parties 
shall not be liable under this Agreement for said delay or failure. “Force 
Majeure” means any cause beyond the reasonable control of a Party 
including, but not limited to, an act of God, an act or omission of civil or 
military authorities of a state or nation, epidemic, pandemic, fire, strike, 
flood, riot, war, delay of transportation, or inability due to the 
aforementioned causes to obtain necessary labor, materials or facilities. 
 

(f) Audit Rights.     
With reasonable notice and at a convenient location, Client will have the 
right to audit MCCi’s records to verify MCCi’s records to confirm MCCi’s 
billing to Client is correct.  
 
In addition, should any of Client’s regulators legally require access to 
audit the Services, MCCi will, to the extent legally required by such 
regulators, provide access for the same. All results of such audits shall 
be MCCi Confidential Information. 
   
Client shall bear all costs associated with audits. 
 

(g) Assignment.    

Neither Party may assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights, duties 
or obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent 
of the other Party. Either Party, however, without any requirement for 
prior consent by the other, may assign this Agreement and its rights 
hereunder to any Party or entity who succeeds (by purchase, merger, 
operation of law or otherwise) to all or substantially all of the capital 
stock, assets or business of such Party, if the succeeding party or entity 
agrees in writing to assume and be bound by all of the obligations of 
such Party under this Agreement. This Agreement shall be binding upon 
and accrue to the benefit of the Parties hereto and their respective 
successors and permitted assignees.  

 
(h) Modification.    

This Agreement may be modified only by a written amendment executed 
by duly authorized officers or representatives of both Parties.  
 

(i) Provisions Severable.  
If any provision in this Agreement is held by a court of competent 
jurisdiction to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, then such provision shall 
be severed from this Agreement and the remaining provisions will 
continue in full force.  

 
(j) Dispute Resolution.  

Should a dispute arise between MCCi and Client involving their respective 
responsibilities, limitations or the working relations between the Parties 
under this Agreement or any Order, then the Parties will make every 
effort to amicably resolve the dispute. Prior to entering arbitration as set 
forth below, the Parties agree that any dispute will initially be referred to 
their senior management for resolution within ten (10) business days of 
receipt of notice specifying and asking for the intervention of the Parties’ 
superiors. If the dispute is still unresolved after such ten (10) business 
day period, the Parties agree, at the written request of either Party, to 
submit the dispute to a single arbitrator for resolution by binding 
arbitration under the rules of the American Arbitration Association, and 
that any award of the arbitrator shall be enforceable under any court 
having jurisdiction thereof. In any such action, the Parties will bear their 
own costs and will share equally in the costs and fees assessed by the 
American Arbitration Association for its services. 

 
(k) Interpretation.  

The descriptive headings of this Agreement and of any Order under this 
Agreement are for convenience only and shall not affect the construction 
or interpretation of this Agreement. As used herein, “include” and its 
derivatives (including, “e.g.”) shall be deemed to mean “including but 
not limited to.” Each Party acknowledges that this Agreement has been 
the subject of active and complete negotiations, and that this Agreement 
should not be construed in favor of or against any Party by reason of the 
extent to which any Party or its professional advisers participated in the 
preparation of this Agreement. 

 
(l) Publicity.  

MCCi may use the name of Client, the existence of this Agreement and 
the nature of the associated services provided herein for marketing 
purposes, except that such use shall not include any Client Confidential 
Information as defined in Section 7 of this Agreement.  

  
(m) Entire Agreement.  

This Agreement and all Order(s) attached hereto constitute the complete 
and exclusive statement of the agreement between the Parties and 
supersedes all proposals, oral or written, and all other prior or 
contemporaneous communications between the Parties relating to the 
subject matter herein. 

mailto:legal@mccinnovations.com
https://www.lawinsider.com/clause/open-source
https://www.lawinsider.com/clause/open-source


MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT NO. 60197 
 

 
Last updated:  June 25, 2020  Page 6 of 7 
 

 
(n) Counterparts. 

This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which 
will be deemed an original, and all of which taken together will constitute 

one single agreement between the Parties with the same effect as if all 
the signatures were upon the same instrument.  
 
(Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank; Signature Page Follows) 
  



MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT NO. 60197 
 

 
Last updated:  June 25, 2020  Page 7 of 7 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed by their respective duly authorized representatives as of the 
Effective Date. 
 
 

MCCi, LLC DAWSONVILLE, GA (“Client”) 
 
 

Signed: __________________________ Signed: ___________________________ 
 

Name: ___________________________ Name: ____________________________ 
 

Title: ____________________________ Title: _____________________________ 
 

Date: ____________________________ Date: _____________________________ 
 
   415 HIGHWAY 53 EAST 
   DAWSONVILLE, GA 30534 
 

 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:    2021 MAYOR PRO TEMPORE APPOINTMENT  

   
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  12/21/2020    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

     TO APPOINT THE 2021 MAYOR PRO TEMPORE AS PER SECTION 2.20 OF THE CHARTER 
 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

  
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
      
      
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
   
 
 

 
 
 

 
     REQUESTED BY:                 Mike Eason, Mayor_____________ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #    9     
 

 

 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   RECOMMENDATION FOR 2021 LEASES  

   
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  12/21/2020    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
 

   TO REVIEW RECOMMENDATION OF 2021 LEASE FEES  
 
 
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 
COUNCILMEMBER TOLSON AND CITY MANAGER BOLZ RESEARCHED LEASING FEES PER 
MAYOR EASON’S REQUEST. 
 
SEE ATTACHED RECOMMENDATIONS      

   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
 
 

 
 
 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Stephen Tolson, Councilmember______ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   10     
 

 

 



CITY OF DAWSONVILLE RENTAL PROPERTIES 
  
Distillery  
Square Footage: About 11,700 sq. ft 
  
Considerations:  

1. They pay no CAM, i.e. upkeep of building, HVAC, parking lot, etc., just basic cleaning. City has 
spent considerable expense on HVAC, and ADA building modifications the last few years 

2. Current Rent: $3,000.00/month (cut to $1,500.00/month during COVID 
3. Raising rent may make vendor move out 
4. Based on $5.35/sq. foot times $11,700 sq. ft = $62,595.25/year divided by 12 months = 

$5,216.25/month 
  

Recommendations: 
1. Rent – increase to $4,500.00 - $5,000/month ( closer to rate of $5.00/sq. ft) 
2. Revise lease to remove small office space which potentially could be rented to another business 

& rest room, access to water shared w/Distillery 
  
GRHOF  
Square Footage: About 23,714 sq. ft 
  
Considerations: 

1. They pay no CAM, i.e. upkeep of building, HVAC, parking lot, etc., just basic cleaning. City has 
spent a fortune on HVAC, Pirkle Room floor, repairs to electrical system, and ADA adjustments 
the last few years. 

2. An increase in rent may lead to bankruptcy of 501.3C, very political issue 
3. It is a tourism draw to our community/county and installation of Chase Elliott exhibit should 

provide boost to business. 
4. Based on square footage, a conservative rate of $5.35/sq. ft would be about $126,870/year or 

$10,572/month 
5. Current Rent: $100.00/month (cut to $50.00 during COVID), previously paid $1.00/year for many 

years then $12.00/year for two years. 
  
Recommendations:  

6. Rent – increase to at least $500.00 - $1,000.00 month in 2021, then subsequent increases each 
year based on review of financials. 

7. Revise lease to mandate any events/activities held outside of GRHOF MUST involve completion 
and approval of a special event permit. 

8. Continuity and consistency of service levels, operation, security, fiscal management is lacking. 
Recommend hire of manager of some sort to manage these areas. Funding and who the position 
directly reports to of concern. 

9. Ideally we either control use of Pirkle Room and/or mandate it be rented or have some plan in 
place for complimentary use. Currently it is provided free to a number of groups, such as, K4K, 
churches, etc. 

10. Invest in a strategic plan for the museum. Funding the issue, possibly a grant, diversion of funds 
to Chamber, etc. 

  
 



Residential Rental Property – 224 Flat Creek Drive 
Considerations:  

1. Renter has been very good, never a late payment even though they are probably living 
paycheck-to-paycheck. 

2. Current Rent: $750.00/month (cut in half for COVID at landlords initiation, renter did not 
request reduction) 

Recommendations: 
1. Rate: recommend rate remain the same at $750.00/month 

 



           

     SUBJECT: _Oakdale Subdivision Final Plat Approval  

  DATE(s):  _   WORK SESSION    ___12/21/2020    CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

  BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #_______________________________________ 

 Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 

  PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 

To approve or amend the Final Plat 

  HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES 

Approved by Public Works - Trampas Hansard on 12/14/2020 
Approved by Sewer and Water - Jacob Barr on 12/15/2020 
Approved by Planning and Zoning - David Picklesimer on 12/15/2020 

  OPTIONS: 

________________________________________________________________________________________ 
RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 

Approve, Deny or Postpone 

  DEPARTMENT:  _Planning and Zoning______________________________________________________ 

  REQUESTED BY: David Picklesimer________________________________________________________ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  
AGENDA ITEM #_____11____ 







                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                       STAFF REPORT: CITY MANAGER    

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  12/21/2020       
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #  NA      

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
     TO PROVIDE PROJECT UPDATES AND FINANCIAL REPORTS THROUGH NOVEMBER 30, 2020 

 
 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

 
    SEE ATTACHED OUTLINE AND REPORTS 
     
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
      
      
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY:  Bob Bolz, City Manager    

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #     12     
 

 

 



CITY MANAGER’S REPORT – DECEMBER 15, 2020 

FOR CITY COUNCIL MEETING DECEMBER 21, 2020 

 
COVID: With numbers on the rise, staff have continued our modified behavior. We recommend shutting 
down City Hal from December 15, 2020 – January 4, 2021. We will telework and operate as we did in the 
spring – summer when the COVID numbers were so high. These weeks are short work weeks anyway 
with the Christmas and New Year holidays. The Design Guidelines Committee will not meet in December 
but have been assigned by Joe Rothwell of GMRC homework to do and submit online. The December 
21st City Council Meeting and the December 28th Historic Preservation Commission Meetings will be held 
virtually. 
 
Christmas Tree Lighting Special Event: Kudos to everyone involved with this year’s annual Christmas 
Tree Lighting when Dawsonville welcomes the season home. The Christmas Parade and Jingle Market 
were a success as was the food trucks, tree lighting and take your own Santa pictures, which probably 
had our longest line ever. This is of special note when you consider we had to reschedule due to bad 
weather 24-hours before the actual program. A very special thanks to Sara for all here work. 

Atlanta Motorsports Park Cited for Violation of Sound Stipulations: With multiple citations issued to 
AMP for violation of their sound stipulations in October and November, their CEO has been in contact 
with City Solicitor Howell. This will come to City Court in January 
 
Test Manhole Project at Gold Creek Foods: Townley Construction advised they plan to start 
construction on the test manhole project the week of December 14th.  
 
Compliance Order from EPD: The week of December 7th, EPD sent notice that our sewage plant was 
again out of compliance due to high strength wastewater violations. The fine was $424.00, which has 
been paid and already passed along to Gold Creek Foods. 
 
Refurbish of Burt Creek/Water Tower #2: We have received the contract from Turnipseed and will work 
to get it approved. We anticipate work starting in January or February depending on the weather. 
 
Paving Repairs to Main Street, Memory Lane & Jack Heard Street: Turnipseed is finalizing the bid 
documents for advertisement for the paving of Main Street, Jack Heard and Memory Lane as we want to 
pave these at the same time if funding will be adequate. They are completing the hydrology study for 
Jack Heard and that should be the last piece of the puzzle. Preliminary bids indicate $52,500 for Main 
Street, $144,000 for Memory Lane,  and $47,000 for Jack Heard. The Memory Lane estimate does not 
include paving of the dog park parking area  or the culvert expansion along Jack Heard. However, Lamar 
Rogers with GBT is concerned that the culvert expansion at Jack Heard could be very expensive, maybe 
$30,000+, we will know more once the hydrology study is complete. We have $162,000 in SPLOST VI to 
go toward these projects. We will see how the bids come out. I anticipate GBT having the bids ready to 



go out before the end of December. 

Sidewalks: The sidewalk bid documents are also under development. They have completed the survey 
and size study and are working on the development of drawings. We will have to extend some of the 
Farmer’s Market curb and gutter and create a catch basin so run off can be piped under the sidewalk in 
front of the Chester residence and directed to the proper low point. We told Lamar that the paving was 
the higher priority. 

Main Street Park Bronze Dedication Plaque: The plaque was installed on December 10th on the rock 
work at the arched Main Street Park sign. It really looks nice. We plan on a grand opening and ribbon 
cutting perhaps in April. The event might include food trucks, a movie night and related events. We 
hope by that time to have made headway on a picnic shelter, fitness stations, and some other amenities.  
 
Main Street Park: Progress continues as we work to increase the amenities and operation of this 
wonderful addition to the city, including:  

• We have added cameras at each entrance to the park.  
• The dog park has fencing and dog waste stations. We continue working with our Eagle Scout 

candidate for move this project along.  
• Staff met with county Public Works Director David McKee to discuss the trail to the library. He 

advised all they need for the IGA to proceed is an engineered drawing of the bridge, not the 
entire trail. We are working to make that happen. 

• We met with the statewide contract vendor for fitness trail equipment and picnic shelters. We 
hope to have cost information for a recommendation to bring to the City Council and Mayor 
soon. Staff are visiting nearby sites where these facilities are already in place. 

• The Mayor and City Manager participated a meeting with Northside Forsyth for possible 
sponsorship of the amphitheater or the conference center. 

• We are beginning research regarding skate parks for possible consideration as a future park 
amenity. 

SPLOST VII: Research, planning and negotiations continue. 

Lease Recommendations: CM Tolson and the City Manager have researched rental rates of a variety of 
properties within the city limits and elsewhere in the county, including the Highway 400 area. CM. 
Tolson will present a recommendation to the City Council for their consideration at the December 21st 
meeting. 

Bee City: We are working with the Women’s Club to get the Bee City signs to be erected as people travel 
into our county. We are discussing approval of this with GDOT. If they want allow erection on their state 
routes, we will locate them on our ROW, near our city limit signs. 

Personnel: 

• We continue advertisement and recruitment efforts to fill the Finance Administrator position. 
• With Clay Moss’ promotion to Inspector/Code Enforcement, we are left with a big hole in the 



Public Works Department. We are advertising and recruiting to fill that position as well. 
• We are moving forward with GMA recommendations. 

 
Employee Awards: 

November Employee of the Month: Steven McNeal for his day-to-day leadership, exemplary work ethic 
and willingness to come in whenever needed. 

December Employee of the Month: Stacy Harris for her continued effort to manage IT issues and for 
jumping into the administration of the Planning & Zoning Department headfirst. We are already seeing 
extensive improvements in that office and she is a big part of that effort. 

Fall Employee of the Quarter – Members of the Public Works and Utility Crews for their superb efforts 
dealing with the Moonshine Festival, a hurricane, two major leaks and two additional, minor storms. 
Employee recognized include Jon Davis, Clay Moss, Steven McNeal, Cody Mason, Westin Lee and Blake 
Croft. 

Employee of the Year:  Please join me in congratulating the City of Dawsonville’s 2020 Employee of the 
Year. With a  2-1 ratio of votes over the other candidates, this year’s winner is Clay Moss! 

Financial Reports: Attached for your review. 

Leak Adjustments 

Date  Date  Name  Water    Sewer    Total   Description  

12/03/2020 #4653-3    Jenna Margo    $53.03    $71.00  $124.03   Water leak outside faucet under house 

12/03/2020 #5617-0    Dawson Co PW Shop $293.82      0             $293.82     Leak found at transportation shop 

        $415.85 



CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA
GENERAL FUND

July 1, 2020 - November 30, 2020

Budget Actual Percentage
REVENUES
      Taxes 1,235,050$       863,669$          69.93%
      Licenses and permits 115,975            86,700              74.76%
      Intergovernmental revenues 25,000              96,060              384.24%
      Fees 269,200            50,975              18.94%
      Other 234,473            39,706              16.93%

               Total revenues 1,879,698         1,137,110         60.49%

EXPENDITURES
   Department:
      Council 99,215              38,319              38.62%
      Mayor 21,380              7,536                35.25%
      Elections -                   -                   0.00%
      Administration 739,865            330,799            44.71%
      City Hall building 118,000            63,022              53.41%
      Animal control 1,500                132                   8.80%
      Roads 537,517            291,196            54.17%
      Parks 47,000              554,195            1179.14%
      Planning and zoning 285,721            96,600              33.81%
      Economic development 29,500              30,000              101.69%

               Total expenditures 1,879,698         1,411,799         75.11%

TOTAL REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES (274,689)          

      Transfer in From Reserves 274,689            

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE -                   



CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA
WATER, SEWER, AND GARBAGE FUND

July 1, 2020 - November 30, 2020

Budget Actual Percentage
REVENUES
       Water fees 680,000$         319,452$         46.98%
       Sewer fees 794,000           368,585           46.42%
       Garbage fees 203,500           91,720             45.07%
       Miscellaneous 205,310           111,078           54.10%

               Total revenues 1,882,810        890,835           47.31%

EXPENDITURES
        Depreciation 574,000           172,090           29.98%
        Garbage service 212,000           77,994             36.79%
        Group insurance 85,056             32,352             38.04%
        Insurance 38,200             4,110               10.76%
        Interest 87,450             36,498             41.74%
        Payroll taxes 22,752             10,775             47.36%
        Professional 98,000             65,687             67.03%
        Miscellaneous 52,500             19,549             37.24%
        Repairs/supplies 187,500           105,587           56.31%
        Retirement 17,000             9,894               58.20%
        Salaries 297,402           142,356           47.87%
        Technical services 66,000             33,517             50.78%
        Utilities 144,950           53,782             37.10%

               Total expenditures 1,882,810        764,191           40.59%

INCOME (LOSS) 126,644           



CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA
SPLOST 

July 1, 2020 - November 30, 2020

SPLOST VI
Budget Actual Percentage

REVENUES
       Taxes 1,062,750         659,618            62.07%
       Interest 2,000                219                   10.95%
       Other -                   -                   0.00%

               Total revenues 1,064,750         659,837            61.97%

EXPENDITURES (Capital Outlays)
       City hall acquisition 680,000            692,341            101.81%
       Roads and sidewalks 375,750            74,733              19.89%
       Public works equipment - roads -                   -                   0.00%
       Sewer projects -                   -                   0.00%
       Public works equipment - sewer -                   -                   0.00%
       Water projects -                   -                   0.00%
       Public works equipment - water -                   -                   0.00%
       Farmers market 9,000                3,750                41.67%
       Parks and recreation -                   -                   0.00%

               Total expenditures 1,064,750         770,824            72.39%

TOTAL REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES (110,987)          

      Transfer in From Reserves 110,987            

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE -                   


	1. 12.21.2020 AGENDA City Council Regular Meeting and Work Session
	7. Executive Summary For Agenda Items CONSENT AGENDA
	7a. 1 Executive Summary For Agenda Items MINUTES
	7a. 2 12.02.2020 MINUTES_Special Called Meeting
	7a. 3 12.02.2020 Resolution_SPLOST VII and Request to Dawson County
	7a. 4 1 12.02.2020 SPLOST VII IGA_Approved by CC only
	7a. 5 12.07.2020 CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES
	8. 1 Executive Summary For Agenda Items LASERFICHE
	8. 2 Mcci_Addendum No 1 Master Services Agreement
	8. MSA 60197 - Dawsonville GA 18191 (CLean 12.16.20)
	9. Executive Summary For Agenda Items MAYOR PRO-TEM
	10. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items LEASE REVIEW
	10. 2 CITY OF DAWSONVILLE RENTAL PROPERTIES
	11. Agenda Item 11 12 21 2020 CC
	Executive Summary For Agenda Items Form.pdf
	Oakdale Final Plat.pdf

	12. 1  Executive Summary For Agenda Items CITY MANAGER
	12. 2 121420 CC CITY MANAGER REPORT
	12. 3 FINANCIAL REPORTS
	Gen Fund 11-30-20.pdf
	WSG 11-30-20.pdf
	SPLOST 11-30-20.pdf


